FEB 21 1994

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RAY DEAN RUSSENBERGER,

Petitioner/Former Husband,

6/R5-6

and

SUPREME COURT CASE #:82,587

CYNTHIA L. RUSSENBERGER-STELTENKAMP,

FIRST DCA CASE NO: 93-1589

Respondent/Former Wife.

CIRCUIT COURT CASE NO: 91-1374

PETITIONER/FORMER HUSBAND'S INITIAL BRIEF

ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FIRST DISTRICT STATE OF FLORIDA

CRYSTAL COLLINS Florida Bar No: 558264 BEGGS & LANE and P. O. Box 12950 Pensacola, Florida 32576 (904)432-2451

T. SOL JOHNSON Florida Bar No.: 40306 JOHNSON, GREEN & LOCKLIN, P.A. P.O. Box 605 Milton, FL 32572 (904)623-3841

Attorneys for Petitioner/Former Husband

##

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The parties will be referred to as petitioner or respondent, or Mr. Russenberger or Mrs. Russenberger Steltenkamp, respectively. References to exhibits contained in the Appendix are designated as Exhibit, followed by the exhibit number. References to the transcript of the hearing on the Motion to Compel Examination of Persons held on April 27, 1993, are cited as "T-\_" and the appropriate page number. (A copy of this transcript is attached hereto as Exhibit 1)

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On January 5, 1993, the Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage was entered by the Circuit Court In and For Escambia County, Florida dissolving the marriage of Ray Dean Russenberger and Cynthia L. Russenberger [Steltenkamp]. A copy of the Final Judgment is attached hereto as Exhibit 2. The Final Judgment incorporated the terms of a marital settlement agreement entered into between the parties on December 22, 1992. The marital settlement agreement provided that it would be in the best interest of the parties' five minor children for the parties to have shared parental responsibility. Mrs. Russenberger Steltenkamp was designated as the residential custodian subject to liberal and reasonable rights of visitation by Mr. Russenberger.

An appendix pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure, Rule 9.220, accompanies this brief.

After being informed by Mrs. Russenberger Steltenkamp that she intended to relocate permanently to Suffern, New York, Mr. Russenberger filed a Petition to Enforce the Final Judgment on February 25, 1993 (attached hereto as Exhibit 3), and later filed a Petition for Modification of the Final Judgment on April 30, 1993. The Petition for Modification (attached hereto as Exhibit 4) requested the circuit court to modify the Final Judgment and designate Mr. Russenberger as the residential custodial parent of the children.

On April 21, 1993, Mr. Russenberger filed a Motion to Compel Examinations of Persons pursuant to Rule 1.360, Florida Rules of Civil Procedure. Mr. Russenberger moved the Court to enter an order allowing for psychological examination of the parties' five minor children (whose ages ranged from four to sixteen). A copy of the Motion to Compel Examination of Persons is attached hereto as Exhibit 5. On April 27, 1993, a hearing was held before the circuit court on the Motion to Compel Psychological Evaluations. The trial judge orally ruled on the motion at the time of the hearing and the written order was entered on May 14, 1993. A copy of the Order Upon Petitioner/Former Husband's Motion to Compel Examination of Persons is attached hereto as Exhibit 6.

The circuit court's order provided in relevant part as follows:

This court . . .finds that it is in the best interest of the minor children to designate the former husband as the parent responsible for the psychological

care and concern of the minor children. This responsibility will include the right to decide if any psychological examinations of the minor children would be in their best interest. Should he psychological determine that examination would be in the children's best interest, he shall be permitted, in his discretion to schedule the necessary examinations with qualified a psychologist of his choosing and the former wife shall make the children available . . . Appendix, Exhibit 6, T-23.

Mrs. Russenberger Steltenkamp appealed the circuit court's non-final order. The First District Court of Appeal found the circuit court's order did not conform with the essential requirements of law and may have caused material injury throughout subsequent proceedings for which remedy by appeal would have been inadequate. A copy of the District Court's per curiam decision is attached hereto as Exhibit 7.

The District Court determined that the "essential requirements of law" which relate to a person being required by a court to undergo a psychological examination are set forth in Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.360. This rule provides for compulsory examinations "only upon a showing of good cause, when the party's mental or physical condition is in direct controversy." Appendix, Exhibit 7, p.2 (citations omitted). In order to meet the essential requirements of law, the District Court held that the party's mental condition must be clearly demonstrated to be directly involved in some material element or cause of action or defense and it must be clearly demonstrated that expert medical testimony is

necessary. The First District court held that conclusory allegations alone do not put the child's mental health "in controversy" or demonstrate "good cause". Appendix, Exhibit 7, p. 3. In its ruling, the court noted that its holding conflicted with its sister court's decision in Gordon V. Smith, 615 So. 2d 843 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993) and Pariser V. Pariser, 601 So. 2d 291 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992). On October 19, 1993, petitioner timely filed his notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction and on January 24, 1994, this Court accepted jurisdiction.

# SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The First District Court of Appeal erred by failing to review the trial court's decision under the abuse of discretion standard. The trial court exercised its discretion pursuant to Section 61.13, Florida Statutes (1991), in a reasonable manner when it delegated Mr. Russenberger as the parent responsible for the psychological welfare of the minor children. Therefore, its ruling should not have been disturbed upon appeal.

The First District further erred by holding that an evidentiary hearing is required before a child's psychological well-being may be placed in controversy. An evidentiary hearing is not a prerequisite to the granting of a psychological examination under all circumstances, as recognized by the Fourth District Court in Pariser v. Pariser, 601 So. 2d 291 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992). See also Schagenhauf v. Holder, 379 U.S. 104, 85 S. Ct. 234, 13 L.Ed. 2d 152 (1964). The verified pleadings demonstrated good cause and in controversy as required by Rule 1.360, Florida Rules of Civil Procedure. Further, Chapter 61, Florida Statutes, and the recent decision of Mize v. Mize, 621 So. 2d 417 (Fla. 1993)<sup>2</sup> recognize that the psychological and emotional condition of both parents and children are directly relevant in relocation

In its Order upon Petitioner/Former Husband's Motion for Temporary Injunction (attached hereto as Exhibit 9), the trial court correctly held that its ultimate decision on relocation would be based upon the factors enunciated in <u>Hill v. Hill</u>, 548 So. 2d 705 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1989). <u>See</u> Appendix, Exhibit 9.

and child custody proceedings. Therefore, the trial court did not abuse it discretion in granting petitioner's Motion for Psychological Examinations of Persons.

Furthermore, public policy and the present statutory framework in Florida support the conclusion that the trial judge has the discretion to allow a psychological examination of a child in relocation and custody proceedings. When making a decision regarding the best interest of the children, the trial judge must be able to utilize the full array of tools available to him.

#### ARGUMENT

#### **ISSUE**

WHETHER THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN REVERSING THE TRIAL COURT ORDER DESIGNATING THE RESPONSIBLE FOR THE **FATHER** PARENT THE PSYCHOLOGICAL CONCERN OF THE MINOR CARE AND CHILDREN.

A. The trial court's decision should have been reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard.

The District Court of Appeal for the First District should have denied the Petition for Writ of Certiorari because the petition failed to demonstrate error by the trial court which constituted a departure from the essential requirements of law. Bridges v. Williamson, 449 So. 2d 400 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984).

The granting or denying of an order for a psychological evaluation is a discretionary act. Pariser v. Pariser, 601 So. 2d 291 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992); see also Pepsi Cola Bottling Co. of Miami v. Modesto, 107 So. 2d 43 (Fla. 3d DCA 1958). The abuse of discretion standard recognizes that the trial judge is in a superior position to evaluate the facts and circumstances involved to determine whether evaluations are relevant to the proceedings. Canakaris v. Canakaris, 382 So. 2d 1197 (Fla. 1980).

On appellate review, the court should have fully realized the superior vantage point of the trial judge, and therefore should have applied the "reasonableness" test to determine whether the trial judge abused his discretion. Canakaris v. Canakaris, 382 So. 2d at 1203. A trial judge's discretionary ruling should not be disturbed when the decision satisfies the test of reasonableness. Id. Under the Canakaris standard, the trial court's decision should be overturned only upon a conclusion that no judge could have reasonably allowed such an evaluation. Id.

The Fourth District, following <u>Canakaris</u>, has applied the abuse of discretion standard to review orders granting authorization of psychological evaluations. <u>Pariser v. Pariser</u>, 601 So. 2d at 292; <u>Gordon v. Smith</u>, 615 So. 2d 843, 844 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993). In <u>Pariser</u>, the Fourth District Court found that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in ordering the psychological evaluations without an evidentiary hearing. The Fourth District Court held that not all situations require evidentiary hearings. <u>Pariser v. Pariser</u>, 601 So. 2d at 292.

In the case at bar, the First District Court of Appeal reversed the trial court and held that the lower court proceeding departed from the essential requirements of law by:

[f]ailing to determine whether the mental condition of the children was "in controversy"; failing to determine whether "good cause" was demonstrated requiring the requested psychological evaluations; relying on conclusory

allegations and argument of counsel instead of sworn testimony and other evidence; and attempting to side-step the issue presented by the motion by improperly abrogating its decisional power to the former husband.

Russenberger v. Russenberger, 623 So. 2d 1244 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993); Appendix, Exhibit 7 at p. 4.

The First District Court did not specify which standard of review it was applying to the trial court's order. However, by requiring the record to "clearly demonstrate" the "in controversy" and "good cause" requirements set forth in Rule 1.360, Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, the court appears to be applying the substantial competent evidence or de novo standard of review. See Zediker v. Zediker, 444 So. 2d 1034 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984)(the court applied the competent and substantial evidence standard in reviewing a modification of custody proceeding).

This standard gives little or no weight to the trial court's findings, and allows a losing party to re-litigate the facts before the appellate court. It further ignores the trial court's inherent ability to weigh the facts and circumstances of each individual case and base its decision upon the analysis of the totality of the circumstances and review of all the pleadings. The appellate court must only look to see if there is logic and justification for the trial court's decision. Canakaris v. Canakaris, 382 So. 2d at 1203.

- B. Under an abuse of discretion standard, the trial court's order was appropriate and should not have been disturbed upon appeal.
  - 1. Pursuant to Chapter 61, Florida Statutes, the trial judge retains jurisdiction to decide matters affecting the welfare of children when the parents cannot otherwise agree.

Shared parental responsibility is defined as the court ordered relationship in which both parents continue to enjoy full parental rights and responsibilities. See Section 61.046(11), Florida Statutes. Each parent has the duty to use his or her best efforts to do what is in the best interest of the child(ren). When major decisions must be made regarding the welfare of the child(ren), the parents must confer with one another and make a joint decision. The fact that one parent is given primary custodial responsibility does not affect his or her duty to confer with the other. Markham v. Markham, 485 So. 2d 1299 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986).

Unfortunately, parents (and especially parents in custody and relocation disputes) do not always agree upon major decisions involving their children. When this joint responsibility breaks down, the statutory framework allows the trial judge to designate ultimate responsibility over specific aspects of the child's welfare. Martinez v. Martinez, 973 So. 2d 37 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990); Peaden v. Slatcoff, 522 So. 2d 959 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988); see also Vasquez v. Vasquez, 443 So. 2d 313 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983), rev. den. 451 So. 2d 851 (Fla. 1984).

In the case at bar, the trial court recognized its ability to decide matters affecting the welfare of the minor children when the parents could not agree. Transcript of Hearing On Motion To Compel Examination of Persons, Appendix, Exhibit 1, T- 20-23.

The trial court acted within its discretion when it designated Mr. Russenberger as the party who should be responsible for determining the psychological care and concern of the minor children.

Section 61.13 2(b) 2. a., Florida Statutes, provides that:

shared parental ordering [i]n responsibility, the court may consider the expressed desires of the parents and may grant to one party the ultimate responsibility over specific aspects of the child's welfare or may divide those the parties responsibilities between based on the best interests of the child. responsibility may primary residence, education, medical and dental care, and any other responsibility which the court finds unique to particular family.

As pointed out by the court in <u>Martinez v. Martinez</u>, 573 So. 2d 37, this statutory language contemplates that parents, not the courts, have the responsibility of making decisions regarding medical care and any other areas which the court finds unique to the particular family. But, in situations where parents are unable to agree, as in this case, the court is allowed to designate one parent to have the ultimate responsibility for making a decision regarding a particular

aspect of the children's welfare. <u>Martinez v. Martinez</u>, 573 So. 2d at 41.

The record in this case clearly demonstrated sufficient findings on which the trial court could base its decision. This discretionary ruling should only have been overturned if no judge could have reasonably entered the order in dispute. Gordon v. Smith, 615 So. 2d at 844. Clearly, the pleadings, including, but not limited to, the verified Petition to Enforce Final Judgment, Answer to Petition to Enforce Final Judgment (attached hereto as Exhibit 9) and the Petition for Modification of Final Judgment show the parties do not agree on what is in the best interest of the children. See Appendix, Exhibits 3, 9 and 4, respectively.

In its decision, the First District Court of Appeal found that this case did not present the kind of situation contemplated by Section 61.13(2)(b)2.a., Florida Statutes. Russenberger, 623 So. 2d at 1245. Appendix, Exhibits 7, p. 4. The court found that failure to hold an evidentiary hearing under Rule 1.360, Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, constituted reversible error.

This decision contradicts the First District opinion in Peaden v. Slatcoff, 522 So. 2d 959. In Peaden, the First District upheld the trial court's decision granting the mother responsibility for her child's choice of schools. Although reversed on other grounds, the First District approved the designation based upon "the single factual finding" that the

parties had been unable to reach an agreement otherwise. Peaden, 522 So. 2d at 960.

This case is similar to <u>Peaden</u>, in that in addition to the child's educational needs, Section 61.13(2)(b)2a. includes medical treatment as a responsibility which may be designated to a particular parent. The trial court did not err in assigning this responsibility to the husband. To the contrary, the court is given specific authority to do so under the statute.

It should be noted that in designating the father as the parental authority to determine the needs for the psychological care of the children, the trial court did not prevent the mother from also having the children examined. Appendix, Exhibit 1, T-31.

2. An evidentiary hearing is not always required in order to compel a psychological examination pursuant to Rule 1.360, Florida Rules of Civil Procedure.

In the event this Court finds, as did the First District, that the actions to the trial court amounted to a compulsory examination pursuant to Rule 1.360, Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, the verified pleadings are sufficient to satisfy the "in controversy" and "good cause" requirements. See Pariser v. Pariser, 601 So. 2d 291; see also Schlagenhauf v. Holder, 379 U.S. 104.

Rule 1.360, Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, provides that a party may request a person to undergo a psychological evaluation when the condition that is the subject of the requested examination is in controversy and the petitioning party shows good cause for the examination.

What constitutes good cause or places the mental or physical condition of a party in controversy is not made entirely clear by Florida case law. <u>Anderson v. Anderson</u>, 470 So. 2d 52 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985).

The Fifth District Court of Appeals, in Fruh v. State Dept. of Health & Rehabilitative Services, 430 So. 2d 581 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983), defines "in controversy" as meaning that the party's condition is directly involved in some material element of the cause of action or defense, and "good cause" as meaning the condition could not be evidenced adequately without the assistance of expert medical testimony. Fruh v. State, 430 So. 2d at 584.

Rule 1.360, Florida Rules of Civil Procedure is similar to Rule 35, Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The Federal rule was explored by the United States Supreme Court in Schlagenhauf v. Holder, 379 U. S. 104. The United States Supreme Court in Schlagenhauf set forth the "in controversy" and "good cause" requirements discussed in Fruh.

In the case at bar, the First District Court of Appeal announced a "clear demonstration" standard in proceedings involving custody of children, requiring that an evidentiary

hearing be held before a trial judge may order a psychological examination of a child. Appendix, Exhibit 7, p. 2. The First District relied on Schlagenhauf in ruling that an evidentiary hearing is required before a psychological examination may be allowed in a custody proceeding. To the contrary, Schlagenhauf specifically found that an evidentiary hearing is not required, and that affidavits or other usual methods short of hearing are sufficient to demonstrate the "in controversy" and "good cause" standards. Schlagenhauf, 379 U.S. at 118, 119. The United States Supreme Court explained that there are situations will meet in which pleadings alone the requirements, and cited the following example:

A plaintiff in a negligence action who asserts mental or physical injury places that mental or physical injury clearly in controversy and provides a defendant with good cause for an examination and extent of such injury. Id.

In Mr. Russenberger's verified Petition to Enforce Final Russenberger Judgment (Appendix, Exhibit 3), Mrs. Steltenkamp's Answer to Petition to Enforce Final Judgment (Appendix, Exhibit 9), and the Petition for Modification of Final Judgment (Appendix, Exhibit 4) sufficient grounds were alleged to warrant "good cause" to evaluate the children and clearly demonstrated that their emotional and mental well being were in controversy. It is undisputed that the former wife intended to move with the five minor children to the state of New York. The ultimate issues to be determined by the trial court included, but were not limited to, what impact

the relocation of the five minor child: a would have on the relationship between the children and the noncustodial parent, whether there is any adequate visitation schedule which would foster meaningful relationship between the children and the noncustodial parent, what is in the best interest of the children, and as it concerns custody, the love, affection and other emotional ties existing between the parents and the children, and the reasonable preference of the children. Mize v. Mize, 621 So. 2d 417 (adopting the Hill v. Hill factors) and Section 61.13, Florida Statutes. Logic dictates that an expert in the area of child psychology is the one best to make such determinations, particularly in light of the children's ages3. Thus, the ordering of the evaluations was not abuse of discretion since the pleadings themselves squarely placed the mental and emotional state of the children Under Schlagenhauf, the requirements of "good cause" and "in controversy" are satisfied. Schlagenhauf v. Holder, 379 U.S. at 118, 119.

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