IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

₿y....

SID J. WHITE

0A 5.6.94

SUPREME COURT CASE NO: 82,587

CIRCUIT COURT CASE NO: 91-1374

FIRST DCA CASE NO: 93-1589

017

MAR 10 1994

RAY DEAN RUSSENBERGER,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

Petitioner/Former Husband,

and

CYNTHIA L. RUSSENBERGER,

Respondent/Former Wife.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

E. JANE BREHANY, ESQUIRE MYRICK, SILBER & DAVIS, P.A. 625 North Ninth Avenue Pensacola, FL 32501 (904) 433-0084 FLORIDA BAR NO: 715042

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT/ FORMER WIFE

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Ms. Russenberger submits that the issue as phrased by Mr. Russenberger in his initial brief is improper for purposes of this Supreme Court Appeal. This appeal should address the conflicting application of Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.360 in the Florida District Courts of Appeal. Accordingly, Ms. Russenberger first will restate the issue on appeal and will follow with argument on the restated issue. After this discussion, Ms. Russenberger will address the issues set forth by Mr. Russenberger in his initial brief.

ISSUE AS RESTATED BY RESPONDENT

WHETHER IN DOMESTIC RELATIONS PROCEEDINGS, BEFORE ORDERING PSYCHOLOGICAL EXAMINATIONS, THE TRIAL COURT MUST MAKE AN AFFIRMATIVE FINDING THAT (i) THE MENTAL CONDITION OF THE PARTY OR CHILD IS DIRECTLY INVOLVED IN SOME MATERIAL ELEMENT OF THE CAUSE OF ACTION OR DEFENSE AND (ii) WHETHER THE PARTY SUBMITTING THE REQUEST HAS ESTABLISHED GOOD CAUSE FOR THE REQUESTED EXAMINATION.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The United States Supreme Court first addressed the subject of compulsory mental examinations in 1964. Schlagenhauf v. Holder, 379 U.S. 104, 85 S.Ct. 234 (1964). After reviewing a rule almost identical to the Florida rule, the United States Supreme Court held that the rule requires discriminating application by the trial Mental examinations should not be required unless a party court. has affirmatively put into issue his own mental condition. Over the years, the rule has been addressed by all of the Florida district courts of appeal. Every district has acknowledged an individual's right to be free from compulsory mental examinations. The districts have noted that psychological examinations should not be automatic and that a trial court cannot ignore the right of a mental examination. compulsory from a to be free person Accordingly, only upon a showing of good cause, when the party's mental condition is in direct controversy will a psychological examination be ordered.

Rule 1.360 has been correctly applied by all of the districts, including the fourth district. Only recently, in 1992 and 1993 did the fourth district pose a potential conflict. The fourth district has suggested that a psychological examination may be automatic in every custody case. According to the fourth district, the custody factors of Section 61.13 and the social investigation authorized by Section 61.20, give the trial court authority to grant psychological examinations in every case.

The Florida Rules of Civil Procedure and the overwhelming case law in the state of Florida, cannot support the recent interpretation of the fourth district court of appeal. In order to protect parties and their children from unwarranted invasions of privacy, the trial court must carefully review the circumstances of each case and determine whether the mental condition is in controversy and whether good cause is necessary to evaluate that condition.

ARGUMENT

A. <u>SUMMARY OF DOMESTIC RELATIONS CASE LAW INVOLVING</u> COMPULSORY PSYCHOLOGICAL EXAMINATIONS

I. First District Court of Appeal

1. <u>In the Interest of S.N. v. State of Florida, Department</u> of Health and Rehabilitative Services, 529 So. 2d 1156 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988).

The trial court ordered the mother of a dependent child to submit to a mental examination before the mother could regain custody of her child. The child had previously exhibited severe behavioral and emotional problems and the Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services case worker testified that she found it difficult to believe that the child had reached a point where he had to be removed from the home if the mother did not suffer from any psychological problems. Based upon this information, the trial court ordered the mother to be examined by a psychologist of her own choice.

The first district court of appeal granted the mother's common law writ of certiorari and quashed the decision of the trial court. The first district court of appeal explained that the Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services had failed to satisfy the requirements of Florida Rule of Civil Procedure, 1.360. The first district explained that the requirements of Rule 1.360 cannot be

> met by mere conclusory allegations of the pleadings - nor by mere relevance to the case - but require an affirmative showing by the movant that each condition as to which the examination is sought is really and genuinely

in controversy and that good cause exists for ordering such particular examination.

Id. at 1158.

The court further explained that a showing of good cause sufficient to warrant a court compelled mental examination of a parent seeking custody of a dependent child should be based upon evidence that the parent "has been unable to meet the special needs of the child." <u>Id</u>. at 1159. The conclusion cannot be inferred and must be demonstrated based upon the parent's past conduct or behavior.

2. In the Interest of T.M.W., 553 So. 2d 260 (Fla. DCA 1989).

In this case, the trial court ordered a psychological examination of a minor child in an adoption proceeding. The adult attempting to adopt the child objected to the compulsory examination and requested a writ of common law certiorari to review the trial court's order. First, the first district court of appeal noted that common law certiorari was appropriate because later review on appeal "would provide an inadequate remedy after compulsory mental examination of a 12-year-old child . . . " Id. at 260. The first district stated that the trial court must strictly comply with the requirements of Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.360. The court noted that certiorari had been frequently granted and relief afforded to parents who requested review of orders The first compelling them to submit to mental examinations. district cited several cases from other jurisdictions and explained that a compulsory mental examination had been traditionally deemed an invasion of privacy which will only be tolerated upon a showing of good cause. Id. at 263.

3. <u>Russenberger v. Russenberger</u>, 623 So. 2d 1244 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993).

The first district court of appeal granted a writ of common law certiorari to review an order of the trial court requiring compulsory examinations of the parties' five minor children. The court explained that the "essential requirements of law" before a person may be required by a court to undergo a psychological examination are set out in Rule 1.360. The rule provides for compulsory examinations "only upon a showing of good cause, when the party's mental or physical condition is in direct controversy." <u>Id</u>. at 1245. The petition for writ of certiorari was granted and the trial court's order was guashed.

II. Second District Court of Appeal.

1. <u>Williams. v. Williams</u>, 550 So. 2d 166 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1989).

The trial court first restricted and then terminated a father's visitation with his minor son until the father submitted to a court ordered psychological examination. After the hearing on the visitation issues, the trial court on its own motion ordered the father to submit himself for a complete psychological examination. The court found that the father's psychological wellbeing was in question and could have a detrimental affect on the child. Referring to Rule 1.360, the appellate court held that the trial court must first determine whether the mental health of the father was in controversy. The court noted that the only evidence in the record which put the mental stability of the father in

controversy was the conclusory allegations contained in the pleadings of the mother. Citing Fruh v. State, Department of Health & Rehabilitative Services, 430 So. 2d 581 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983) and Kristensen v. Kristensen, 406 So. 2d 1210 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981), the second district held that conclusory allegations alone were insufficient to put the father's mental health in controversy and that the conclusory allegations did not demonstrate good cause for submission to a mental examination. Further, the court noted that the showing of good cause which would warrant a court compelled mental examination should be based upon evidence that the parent has been unable to meet the needs of the child. Τn addition, in order to establish good cause, it must be demonstrated that expert medical testimony is necessary to resolve the issue. After finding that the record did not reflect that the father's mental health was in controversy and that the record did not demonstrate good cause for a psychological examination pursuant to Rule 1.360, the decision was reversed.

2. <u>Schouw v. Schouw</u>, 593 So. 2d 1200 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1992).

The father in a custody proceeding sought a writ of certiorari reviewing an order which granted his wife's motion to compel a psychological examination. Both parties questioned whether the other parent was psychologically fit to be the minor children's custodial parent. The court noted that the mental health of a parent in a child custody case is relevant, but stated that mere allegations that a parent is mentally unstable are not sufficient to place that parent's mental health at issue. Furthermore, the

court made it clear that psychological examinations are not automatic in custody cases and should only be ordered upon a showing of good cause. The court explained that good cause requires evidence that the parent has been unable to meet the needs of the child. In this case, the husband had primary custody of the children for six months prior to the final hearing. No evidence was presented that he was unable to meet the children's needs. Under these circumstances, the appellate court found that there was no factual basis for the court to order the psychological examination. The order of the trial court granting the examination was quashed.

3. Nobbe v. Nobbe, 627 So. 2d 59 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1993).

In the husband's counterpetition, he asked the court to order psychological examinations of the parties to assist the judge in children. The primary residence of the determining the counterpetition contained no allegations that the examination of the mother was necessary or that the mother was unable to meet the The trial court granted the husband's needs of the children. motion based upon representations from the husband's counsel that the wife had been undergoing psychiatric care for the past year and Counsel also stated that the daughter was was taking Prozac. undergoing psychiatric counseling and that the son suffered from attention deficit disorder. The husband did not testify. The trial court required the psychological examination of the mother. On appeal, the decision of the trial court was quashed. The appellate court found that the circuit court "departed from the

essential requirements of law in ordering a psychological evaluation because the pleadings do not contain any allegations establishing good cause for the examination." Id at 59.

III. Third District Court of Appeal

1. Paul v. Paul, 396 So. 2d 853 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1979).

In a dissolution proceeding that did not involve custody of children, the wife filed a motion to require the husband to submit to a physical and mental examination. After a hearing on the motion, the trial court ordered the examination. In her motion, the wife recited several grounds for the examination, including her allegations that her husband was unstable neurologically, was incompetent and mentally deranged. The district court held that the wife's motion did not adequately fulfill the required showing that the husband's mental or physical condition was in controversy and that there was good cause for the examination. On these grounds, the husband's petition for certiorari was granted and the order of the circuit court was quashed.

2. <u>Schottenstein v. Schottenstein</u>, 384 So. 2d 933 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1980).

In a modification proceeding, the father filed a motion seeking psychological evaluation and counseling of the parties' minor children. After testimony, the court appointed a psychologist and ordered the minor children to undergo psychiatric counseling and evaluation. The third district court of appeal reversed this decision.

While the trial judge may be a proselyte of psychological evaluations and consultations

for every minor child of divorced parents, we cannot ignore the countervailing right of a person to be free from a compulsory mental examination. See Schlagenhauf v. Holder 379 U.S. 104, 85 S.Ct. 234, 13 L.Ed.2d 152 (1964); Schuppin v. Unification Church, 435 F.Supp. compulsory 1977). Α mental 603 (D.Vt. examination has been traditionally deemed an invasion of privacy which will only be tolerated upon a showing of good cause. 82 F.R.D. 371 Matey, Martroni v. (E.D.Pa.1970); Unification Schuppin v. Church,, supra; Paul v. Paul, 366 So. 2d 853 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1979). This requirement of good cause is simply not met by a showing that the children were sometimes upset when they returned from a visitation with their father, or by the father's desire to give his children a sense of value about money. Id. at 936.

IV. Fourth District Court of Appeal.

1. Anderson v. Anderson, 470 So. 2d 52 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985).

In this dissolution proceeding, the husband claimed that the wife drank, abused drugs, and was susceptible to undue influence. Since the wife was not seeking alimony, or custody of children, the fourth district court of appeal found that these allegations were irrelevant. Citing Rule 1.360, the fourth district held that the trial court may order physical or mental examinations on a showing of good cause when the mental or physical condition of a party is in controversy. Because of the limited relief sought, the appellate court determined that the mental condition of the wife was not in controversy. Accordingly, the decision of the trial court requiring the mental examination was reversed.

2. Frisard v. Frisard, 453 So. 2d 1150 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984).

In a modification proceeding involving custody, the father of a minor child sought the appointment of a psychiatrist to examine the mother because she had been hospitalized for mental problems several years prior to the modification proceeding. The trial court denied the motion. The trial court's decision was affirmed on appeal. The fourth district noted that psychological examinations are not automatic and that they are not always warranted.

> Mental or psychological examinations are not automatic, and should not be. First, these clearly are not always warranted, as in the case here; therefore, court appointment is unjustified. See Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.360(a) concerning the requirement of a "good cause" showing and <u>Schlagenhauf v. Holder</u>, 379 U.S. 104, 85 S.Ct. 234, 13 L.Ed.2d 152 (1964). Second, the costs may be an unnecessary burden on the parties.

Id. at 1152.

3. <u>Pariser v. Pariser</u>, 601 So. 2d 291 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992). This case involved a modification action requesting a change of custody of minor children. Finding that the granting or denying of an order for psychological evaluation is a discretionary act, the court concluded that the trial court did not depart from the essential requirements of law in ordering the psychological examinations. The decision does not refer to Rule 1.360 and notes that an evidentiary hearing is not always required before the entry of an order granting psychological examinations.

4. Gordon v. Smith, 615 So. 2d 843 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993).

<u>Gordon</u> involved post dissolution proceedings to modify custody and visitation. The original final judgment approved the parties' agreement that the mother would have primary residential custody.

In the modification action, the mother sought sole custodial responsibility charging the father with inappropriate conduct and possible sexual abuse during overnight visitation with the parties' five year old child. The father responded with allegations that the mother had concocted lies about the sexual abuse and had violated the court's directives regarding shared parental responsibility.

A psychologist testified at the hearing that he had been treating the child for more than one year and concluded that visits with the father should be suspended. The trial court ordered psychological examinations of the entire family. The fourth district held that the psychologist's testimony alone furnished a sufficient basis for the good cause necessary for psychological In addition, the fourth district court held that examinations. independent statutory authorization exists to order psychological evaluations in child custody proceedings. First, the court referred to the custody factors set forth in Section 61.13, Florida The fourth district held: Statutes.

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